Lavaca County Dance Halls 
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Appelt’s Hill

Appelt’s Hill Schuetzen Verein: (Lavaca County Deed Vol. 19 561,564)
The hall was organized on August 20, 1882.  August J. Appelt built a dance platform under some shady oak trees on his place known as Possum Flats. The shoots continued at that location under 1886 when the platform was moved to the Alton Slezer farm.  (Henry Wolff)
The big Schuetzen Verein dance hall is nearing completion (HH July 19, 1894)
The Schuetzen Verein is going to build a dance hall 40X100 feet.  The contract has been given to Leopold & Hannig.  (HH July 28, 1894)
The completion of the dance hall will be celebrated Sat. night (HH August 16, 1894)
Destruction by fire (HH April 1, 1897)
Destruction by storm on July 21, 1909 (VA October 14, 2007)(Spies p.46)
Dedication of the new dance hall (HH October 29, 1909)
At the general meeting of the Appelt’s Hill Gun Club Sunday, October 5, it was decided that a new floor will be laid in the dance hall. The hall had previously had a new roof and new wiring in the hall and drink stands in readiness for electric lighting as soon as power lines have been constructed. (NEH October 7, 1947)

Bila Hora

Bila Hora Hall: (HH October 27, 1898)(HH November 3, 1925)

Breslau

Breslau Dance Hall
Breslau will soon have a new saloon and dance hall (HH March 19, 1909)
The Breslau Schuetzen Verein is going to convert the building formerly used as a store by O.L. Amberg into a dance hall and meeting hall. (HH July 19, 1894)
Cash sale of Breslau Schuetzen Verein property of 1 ¾ acres of land, one large dance hall, one drink stands and one outbuilding. (NEH March 15, 1949)
Breslau Schuetzen Verein sold 2 tracts of land to A.W. Spies on April 11, 1951, including improvements thereon; dance hall, beer and soda water stand etc.  Spies demolished the buildings.  (Spies p. 31)
Breslau Dance Hall (NEH June 26, 1951)
Breslau Dance Hall for sale including entire property.  On FM road 5 miles north of Hallettsville.  (NEH February 6, 1953)

Dreyer 

Dreyer Hall: located near Shiner (HH December 20, 1888) (HH February 16, 1889)

Hackberry 

Hackberry Dance Hall was closed and demolished in 1929.  (Spies p. 42)

Hallettsville

Alliance Hall & Grounds: (HH June 21, 1888)

Lavaca County Courthouse: When the county seat was moved to Hallettsville, the frame building served as a courthouse, a general meeting house and a dance hall.  In 1874, the building was moved to the NE corner of the square.   (Tribune November 24, 1936)

Davila’s Dance Hall: (HTH May 19, 2021)

Elstner’s Opera House: (HH March 30, 1888)(HH November 21, 1889)

Herman Park Hall: Hallettsville Herman Park will be operated under the trade name of the Oriental Ballroom. (HH May 1, 1925)

Herman Park to Moltke Lodge #19 ODHS 3.97 acres of land including the dance hall and out buildings $2250.00 (HH April 10, 1928)

Jack’s Play House: Colored Dance Hall (NEH February 22, 1955)

KC Hall 
Advertised for bids for the construction of their new dance hall. (LCNEH May 14, 1976)

Monterrey Dance Hall: South of Hallettsville (LCT June 10, 1955)

National Hall: (HH June 13, 1924)(HH October 9, 1928)

Negro Dance Hall in Elstner building (HH January 13, 1913)

Negro Dance Hall: On Highway (LCT December 3, 1940)(LCNETH August 31, 1990)

Oriental Ballroom: See Herman Park Hall

Pagel Dance Hall: The Pagel dance hall and 4 ½ acres of land was sold at auction Monday, following a grand ball which was given there that night.  The hall belonged to the Schoenfelder Schuetzen verein and was sold to Frank Rother Sr. (HH October 6, 1911)

Price Dance Hall: The old pavilion at the west end is being moved to the road and remodeled for a business house and dance hall.  Wm. Price is the owner (HNE March 10, 1899)

Rabb Hall: (HH May 3, 1888)

Recreation Hall: (NEH January 20, 1948)
Recreation Hall opening Celebration November 6. (LCT October 18, 1940)

Riverside Inn: Business, dance hall and drinks (SG August 4, 1938)

Russell’s Hall: Hall was in a building that was constructed by Dan Russell in 1868-1869.  The main hall was used by Henry Whitehead for a dance hall.  (LCNETH April 14, 1972)
Building torn down in May 1909 by T.R. Zumwalt. (HNE May 7, 1909)
Simpson & McKnight Hall: (HH August 16, 1894)

Stepchinsky Dance Hall: Mr. M.J. Stepchinsky, operator of the Lavaca Filling Station, on the Yoakum Hiway, is putting up a beer garden and dance hall next to his filling station.  Oscar Schulte and men are doing the work. (Tribune July 29, 1935)

SPJST Hall: SPJST purchased the Chase Park Site of 1 ½ acres of land from Louis Matula.  The land was in the western suburbs of the city adjoining the Frank Kutach home place.  A large hall will be built, work to begin at an early date.  
(HH March 6, 1914)

Henkhaus

Henkhaus Dance Hall: Otto C. Henkhaus established the local store and dance hall in 1893.  The Henkhaus dance hall was a large building consisting of two stories.  Upstairs there was once a dance hall.  The bottom floor consisted of a dance floor, saloon, and a separate area where spectators could wat the dancers.  There were wooden seats lining the dance floor.  (ME April 10, 1970)
Henkhaus sold the hall to Wm. J. Darilek.  Other owners were Frank Darilek, Frank J. Darilek, Joe Vrazel, Frank Psencik and John Pelucha.  (LCNETH April 14, 1970)

Darilek & Nachingler Hall (HH March 28, 1901)(HH December 4, 1902)(HH January 26, 1905)

Darilek’s Hall: 
Contractor Jos. Tronicek, accompanied by W. Ungerer, Frank Graves and Bill Wiedemann, were here to see Frank Darilek.  Tronicek closed the contract to erect a new dance hall 40X60 feet.  (HNE August 9, 1912)
Construction of new dance hall (HNE September 13, 1912)
On the 12th of October there will be a big celebration at the dedication of the new dance hall.  (HNE October 4, 1912)
Opening of new dance hall (SG October 10, 1912)
There will be a big barbeque and dance hall dedication with a grand ball at Henkhaus next Saturday, October 12 (HNE October 11, 1912)
The BBQ and dance given here Saturday at the dedication of the new spacious dance hall was a huge success (HNE October 18, 1912)
The Henkhaus Hall was a large two story building located NW of the Henkhaus grocery store.  Upstairs there was a dance hall.  After the second floor was converted into living quarters, the bottom floor was a dance floor, saloon and a spectators area.  Wooden seats lined the dance floor.  (LCNETH April 14, 1970)

Darilek & Maresh of Henkhaus have recently installed a large Delco light plant and are now lighting their residences, dance hall, and gin with electricity.  (ME November 10, 1922)
John Darilek, who operates a dance hall at Henkhaus and Adolph Darilek have rented the dance hall at Midway. (SG March 25, 1926)
John Darilek, owner of the dance hall at Henkhaus, has completed an addition to the hall. (ME January 6, 1928)

Frank C. Malina informed us that he has moved to Henkhaus where with his brother Ben, he will take over the dance hall, filling station and grocery store formerly operated by Frank Kalmas.(SG March 14, 1940)
Ben sold out to Frank who dismantled the gall about 1944.  He sold the lumber to Erwin Oehl and with the lumber, Oehl erected the local funeral home.  (LCNETH April 14, 1970)

Kuehn’s Grove (HNE September 9, 1904)

Kinkler/Old Kinkler

Kinkler Dance Hall: Another grand ball will take place here Saturday night, August 10 in the new store building.  From now until November the building will be called a dance hall as it will be used for that purpose. (HNE August 9, 1912)

Midway

Midway Dance Hall: John Darilek who operates a dance hall at Henkhaus and Adolph Darilek, also of Henkhaus, have rented the dance hall at Midway. (SG March 25, 1926)
The Kolar Stanek Post decided to lease the Midway Dance Hall for one year since the flood that took away the large pavilion of the American Legion. (SG October 6, 1932)
Midway Dance Hall has been leased for one year by Patek’s Orchestra (SG April 11, 1940)
Julius J. Vrana operated the Midway Cash Store and dance hall which he purchased from Frank Klecka.  They later dismantled the dance hall.  (SG January 6, 1966)

Moravia

Moravia Dance Hall: (HH November 27, 1928)
Moravia Store: In the early days, the original structure included a two-story frame building with a saloon, grocery and mercantile business on the ground floor.  On the top floor was a dance hall.  When the new dance hall was erected across the road in 1931, the second story was torn down. (VA October 4, 1998)
In 1889/1881, Jacub Hollub and J.E.  Jalufka constructed a two-story building to house a saloon and grocery store, the second floor served as a dance hall.(HTH May 7, 2014)
Frank Blahuta, Moravia’s progressive merchant, is building a fine new dance hall like the Ermis Hall between Schulenburg and Engle.  The new hall will be located
just NW from the present one, with Joe Krause and force doing the work.  The hall building will be 75X100 feet.  (HNEH March 13, 1931)(Narrative by Ida V. Gallia Hrncir)
A new indoor basketball court is in the Moravia dance hall (LCT March 3, 1932)
Our merchant, Mr. Frank Blahuta, remodeled his store building.  He took off the upper story that had served for many years as a dance hall (HT July 3, 1936)

Jalufka’s Hall: (HH June 25, 1891 & HNEH June 2, 1899 (HH May 11, 1905)

Moulton

Cordes Hall: (HH January 31, 1895)(SG December 9, 1896)

Cotton Grove Dance Hall: three miles E of Moulton (SG August 16, 1951)

Herman Park Hall: 
The Veterans of Foreign Wars post No. 6971 of Moulton purchased the Herman Park Verein properties and took possession on January 1st.  The properties consist of a large dance hall, dining room, several other buildings and seven acres of ground. (NEH January 20, 1948) (SG January 6, 1949)

Moulton American Legion Dance Hall (HH October 12, 1928)

Moulton VFW Hall (SG January 22, 1953)

Moulton Oaks Hall: The Hall at Moulton Oaks was originally built in 1895, the hall has been owned by a succession of organizations.  The KCs purchased it in 1897 and the Martisak Family in 2016.  (www.issuu.com)

Mustang 

Mustang Hall: Between Hallettsville and Yoakum.  Formerly known as Slovacek’s Ballroom

Dance at Slovacek’s Ballroom (LCNEH February 17, 1978)

Slovacek’s Ballroom: (LCNEH September 29, 1972)(LCNEH December 4, 1981)

New Kinkler 

New Kinkler Hall (Spies p.42)
John Creppon is putting up a new dance hall 32X70 ft. which will soon be completed (HH February 7, 1913)
Remember the grand ball at New Kinkler Saturday night, October 5, give by our new store and saloon keeper, John Creppon, who has erected a small dance hall for the present, but will be enlarged later (HNE October 21, 1912)
The Creppon Bros. built a dance hall which closed in the 1920s.  In 1928, Adolph Fertsch, owner at the time, sold it to Richard Spies who dismantled it to build a house.  (Spies p. 39)
Novohrad

Hajek’s Hall: (HH August 2, 1900)

Novohrad Hall: In 1905 operated by John Zapalac (LCTNEH March 20, 1973)
John Zapalac manager of the Novohrad dance hall (ME September 14, 1917)

Pagel Settlement

On Monday Oct. 2, the Schoenfelder Schuetzen Verein will sell their land, hall, benches, fences and other improvements to the highest bidder. (HNE September 15, 1911)

Oak Grove

Oak Grove Dance Hall (ME June 9, 1905)


Praha

The Praha dance platform is being torn down, and a new dance hall will be built
(LCT July 7, 1936)

St. John

St. John Dance Hall (LCT May 1, 1936)

Shiner

American Legion Kolar-Stanek Post #201: Dance Hall: Meeting about rebuilding the hall (SG June 30, 1932) see Rocky Site Park Dance Pavilion

Bluecher Park Verein: 

The Moritz Richter farm was sold to E.E. Hildebrandt about 1896-1897.  In the late 1890s, the owner of the property, Mr. Hildebrandt, erected a small dance hall,  in the Hilderbrandt’s Park (SG September 29, 1901) which he operated for several years.  He sold the hall and five acres of land in 1907 to the ODHS Lodge, and they operated same as an amusement park for 38 years.  (SG October 11, 1945)
A small dance hall was built, octagon-shaped, with a bandstand in the center.  Hildebrandt sold the park, September 11, 1905, to the Hermann Sons Park Verein.  In the spring of 1906 building improvements were begun.  The small hall was cut in half and pulled apart, and the expanded dance floor was made to 50X80 feet with seating benches all around.  Dedication October 6, 1906. 

Hermann Sons sold the park to Dr. A.A. Darilek Sr., Joe Patek and Joe Muras on October 20, 1945.  In the Spring of 1949, the American Legion Kolar-Stanek Post No. 201 purchased property in January 1950.  Remodeled 1963.   (SG September 12, 1963) 

[bookmark: _Hlk212552882]The Shiner American Legion, Kolar-Stanek Post #201 are busying getting things ready for their first dance after Easter at the Legion Park.  In the dance hall a large room on the south side of the dance pavilion has been added which will serve as a moder bar and new sanitary rooms for both men and women.  (SG April 3, 1958)
Dedication of the remodeled and now completely modernized building and dance hall. (SG September 12, 1963)

Boedeker’s Place: (SG May 8, 1951) (SG August 16, 1951)
Lone Star Hall:/Warnken Lone Star Dance Hall: 
4 miles SW of Shiner.  Hall was built last March and situated in a small grove of trees and is reached by the Hochheim road leading from Shiner.  Proprietors: Fritz Warnken and John Hassman.  A bar is connected to the  hall. The Turners occupy the hall every other Sunday and give free exhibitions.  (SG September 28, 1893) Hall is 36X60X20 feet high (SG October 5, 1893)(SG November 5, 1902)

Maurin’s Hall: (SG December 14, 1893)

Morys Hall: Tuesday was a holiday, and the town was crowded with people.  The Breslau Band was in attendance and dancing continued at Morys’s hall during the afternoon and night (SG August 17, 1893)(SG September 20, 1894)
The only place in Shiner for gathering or recreation was an upstairs dance hall owned by Mr. Morys, who had his place of business below.  (SG September 2, 1965)
Negro Dance Hall: (SG November 26, 1936)

Rocky Site Park: The members of the Shiner American Legion, Kolar-Stanek Post #201 had first built a small hall in what was known as Rocky Site Park, south of town.  When floods destroyed Rocky Site Park and their hall, they decided to purchase the Bluecher Park.  (SG September 12, 1963)

Sunken Garden (SG August 16, 1951)

Wendtland & Wagner Dance Hall: Messrs. Wendtland & Wagner have let the contract to Messrs. Maner & Wesling for a two-story building 50 X 80 feet.  The building is on the corner just across the street from Messrs. Wolters Bros.  Messrs. Wendtland & Wagner will occupy the lower story.  The second story will be set up for an opera house and dance hall.  (HH September 26, 1895)

Sublime 

Sublime Opera House: where dances were held with a saloon below. (Tribune March 19, 1971)

Kersch Hall: (HH July 29, 1927)

Sublime Dance Hall: Sublime (SG April 3, 1941)
The dance hall in Sublime owned by Fred Tesch will be enlarged and remodeled (LCT April 1, 1941)
The new Buchanek Grocery at Sublime. The store is now located in the former Sublime Dance Hall (LCT May 13, 1949)
Buchanek’s place is in a building first built for a dance hall and has been changed to a store.  (LCNETH May 26, 1972)

Sublime Rifle Club: (NE June 10, 1891)

Weller & Reese Dance Hall: (HH May 13, 1924)

Sweet Home 

Fireman’s Hall: (SG October 1, 1964)(SG August 24, 1967)

Judd Hall: (HNE February 16, 1906)(HNE October 19, 1906)(HH June 5, 1908
National Hall: (HNE January 5, 1912)(Tribune May 21, 1935)

Sweet Home Dance Hall:
A grand ball will be given in the upper story of the new Koerth building at night. (HH June 20, 1889)
Joseph Leopold is building a dance hall at Sweet Home (HH August 26, 1910)
The new dance hall will soon be completed (HNE September 9, 1910)

Saunders Hall (HH July 30, 1891)

SPJST Hall: (NEH July 21, 1950)

Wendt Hall: Well, I wonder what the young people will do now for a dance hall.  Mr. Wendt has born down his old storehouse and intends to put up a nice dwelling.  (HNE October 27, 1905)

Wagon Wheel Dance Hall:
In 1895 a dance hall was remodeled into a church under Father Forest.  For 26 years the remodeled dance hall served the community as a place of worship for the Catholics.  (SG September 23, 1965)

A crew of carpenters under the direction of contractors Janak and Pesek this week started tearing down the antiquated Wagon Wheel Tavern dance hall at Sweet Home to make room for a more modern outdoor concrete platform and other up to date improvements.  (HEH January 24, 1950)

Wilcox Hall: Sweet Home (HH May 2, 1889) 

Velehrad   

Velehrad Lodge Hall: (Spies p. 9)
The CSPS and later the SPJST Club of Velehrad would have  a dinner at noon after the business meeting of the club.  After the dinner, dancing will be in the club room.  Beer would be sold in the building that was next to the clubroom.  Storms damaged most of the large SPJST buildings.  (The Vestnik May 9, 2007)

Vlastenec

The SPJST Lodge #45 Vlastenec Hall was dedicated on August 27, 1905.  The hall was typical of early day Texas Czech dance halls, being of wooden board and batten
construction with a high-pitched hipped roof.  Less typical was that the hall’s tall windows had side hinged wooden shutters equipped with louvers.  A large rectangular rooftop cupola with 10 louvered openings helped increase air circulation.  Immediately to the east of the hall, a large, roofed beer sand was built.(Vlastenec Ceske Stopy, Winter 2012)
Vlastenec Hall of SPJST #45 : On Sunday night, September 24th a dance will be given at Vlastenec Hall.  Music by K.C.B. Orchestra. (SG September 21, 1933) (SG August 16, 1951) 

Wied  

Wied Phoenix Schuetzen Verein Hall
The Wied Phoenix Schuetzen Verein, a voluntary association, was established on March 1, 1891.  Shooting competitions, May Feasts, King Feasts and ball were held from 1891 to 1911.  This recreation hall was located off present day FM 1891 and near the corner of Lavaca County Road 179.  
The June 17, 1903, edition of the Shiner Gazette reported, “The Phoenix Schuetzen Verein has decided to build a new hall soon.  The last dance at the present hall will be given on the 27th of this month.  
The work of tearing down the old dance hall commenced several days ago (HH July 9, 1903)

The September 2, 1903, Shiner Gazette reported that the dedication of the Phoenix Schuetzen Verein at Wied last Sunday was a big affair…”
On March 8, 1911, the Verein sold the hall and property to Rudolph Benes and his wife Marie Benes for $800.  The Benes would take possession of the property on July 1, 1911.  The last dance was held on June 3, 1911.
On April 30, 1912, Benes sold the property to John Dornak who in turn then sold it to St. Mary’s Catholic Church on May 16, 1912.
The new Catholic church at Wied was dedicated Sunday.  A large crowd being at the first services.  The church is the same building that has been used for a dance hall before (HNE May 24, 1912)

Wied Hall
In 1910, A.J. Kallus purchased the Adolph Schroeder farm across the road from his homestead.  
Joseph Leopold has secured the contract to erect a $1500 dance hall with a stage for theatricals at Wied.     A stock company with a capital of $2000 with A.J. Kallus , F. J. Kubena and other leading Wied citizens  have been organized to finance the venture. (HNE September 3, 1912)

In the little village of Wied there is now a new saloon, owned by F. Kubena and next week Mr. Kubena will begin the erection of a new store and dance hall.  Now we
hear that merchant A.J. Kallus is also putting up a new hall this week, with the first dance to be given on the 28th.  (HNE September 6, 1912)

Mr. Kallus contemplated erecting a dance hall but has decided not to do so for the present, as Mr. Kallus and others began erecting a fine hall near the latter’s store. (NHE October 11, 1912)  

The site of the construction would be the Schroeder property.  

There will be a new dance hall near Kallus store.  It will be finished in two weeks (HNE October 11, 1912)

A.J. Kallus is building a new dance hall (HNE October 22, 1912)

The hipped roof rectangular hall measured 90 feet in length by 45 feet in width.  The all-pine single wall frame construction is supported exteriorly by 1 X 12 board and batten siding.  A stage used for theatricals was attached to the outside perimeter of the hall and was off to the right side as you entered the hall.  Double hung windows (four over four panes) on ropes and pulleys provided natural light and air ventilation.  The interior walls around the dance floor are 12 feet high and the roof rafters are exposed from the inside.  In the early days, lighting was powered by Delco batteries.  Benches surrounded the perimeter of the hall, and a nursery was located near the entrance.  
On January 11, 1946, a new group of shareholders was formed, and they purchased any interest in the hall that the original shareholders wished to sell, including A.J. Kallus.  
On March 15, 1946, the new shareholders purchased four acres of land off Highway 90A from John Sr. and Mary Opela for $400 to be the new location of the hall.
Sometime during May and June of 1946, the hall was moved to it new location.  
The Wied Hall will open at its new location on June 30, 1946.  The spacious hall has been moved from its former location near the Kallus home to the Shiner Highway, which is about 400 yards across the road from Chalupka’s store. (LCT June 11, 1946)

October 1946: discussed building an outside beer stand at the earliest convenience.

July 1947: fans were installed.

December 1955: Shareholders reviewed bids to install a new oak dance floor.

May 1959: extended the hall on the west side by adding a kitchen and indoor restrooms.  

January 1968: plans were discussed to extend the hall on the east side and install butane heaters.

June 1971: the shareholders approved another expansion that included new men’s restrooms, a walk-in cooler, more storage room for the concession stand, a domino room and a patio. (Narrative for Wied Hall Texas Historical Marker)


Witting 

Witting Hall: (Spies p. 42)
One of the oldest organizations in Witting was the William Tell Schuetzen Verein begun on April 29, 1883.  It operated as a shoot club and later built a hall.  (ME  June 28, 1991 )
The Witting Gun Club has decided to erect a new dance hall soon (HH April 2, 1903)
Dance Hall will receive a new roof (HNE February 2, 1912)
On April 25, 1945, the Witting Gun Club, also known as Witting Club and William Tell Gun Club, deeded four acres of land to Joe Krauss, all buildings thereon, including dance hall, beer and soda stand and other buildings. (Spies p. 27)

Witting Park: (SG August 16, 1951)

Worthing

Kutach Hall: (Spies p. 42)

A large dance hall is being built at Kutach Mill about two miles north of Monserratte and will be dedicated with a grand ball on the 23 inst.  (HH April 22, 1897)
The young people at Worthing are making arraignments for a grand public ball to be held at Kutach Hall in the village.  (HH August 8, 1901)
Grand Ball held at A.J. Kutach’s Hall (HH September 26, 1907)

Death of Louis Kutach who owned a general merchandise store, filling station, gin and dance hall at Worthing,  (Tribune September 4, 1936) 

Worthing National Hall: (February 4, 1928)

Yoakum

First Divine Assn. Hall in American /Ochoa Hall (LCT January 25, 1946)

Frank’s Hall:(HH September 19, 1889)

Gin Dance Hall: (HTH July 13, 2011)

Goerthe Ballroom: (HH August 7, 1925)

National Hall: (SG May 4, 1911)

Stephenson’s Hall:  (HH August 23, 1888)

Possible but not verified.

UHC Hall: Moulton				Ritz Drive Inn: Moulton
CSPS Hall: Wellersburg 				Barney Lockman’s Dance Hall: Shiner
Turner Hall: Hallettsville 			Sweet Home Ballroom: Sweet Home
National Hall: Shiner
SPJST Hall: Novohrad
Pecan Grove
Wheelock Hall
